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INTRODUCTION

A t the United Nations Conference of 1943, 
in Hot Springs, Virginia, a speci�c plan 
was drawn up for the establishment of a 

permanent organization in the �eld of food and 
agriculture. The Food and Agriculture Organization 
of the United Nations (FAO) was founded a few 
years later, on 16 October 1945 in Quebec City, 
in Canada, and then temporarily established in 
Washington, D.C., in the United States of America. 
On 29 November 1949, the FAO General Conference 
established that the new permanent headquarters 
would be located in Rome, Italy. Rome had been 
the headquarters of the International Institute 
of Agriculture (IIA) since 1905, and the newly 
established Organization took over its duties from 
1945. The Government of Italy provided a building 
from the 1930s, in the heart of Rome, which had 
been designed to host the Ministry of Italian Africa. 
Between 1950 and 1993, �ve new buildings were 
constructed adjacent to the �rst one, forming the 
architectural complex that you see now.

Today, around 11�000 people work for FAO, from 
almost all of the 194 Member Nations. Over 3�500 
staff are based in Rome, and the rest are located 
in FAO�s network of of�ces throughout the world. 
They include agronomists, ichthyologists, and 
experts in food security and forestry, as well as in 
politics, law, economics and social development.

The purpose of this book is to recount the 
Organization�s history, its mission and its day-to-day 
work in achieving its mandate: to eradicate hunger, 

food insecurity and malnutrition worldwide; 
eliminate rural poverty; promote the sustainable use 
of natural resources and encourage the development 
of more ef�cient and inclusive agricultural and 
food systems, through the de�nition of agreements 
and standards.

FAO, the largest specialized United Nations agency, 
is a global forum open to the different cultures of the 
Members. This is demonstrated by Organization�s 
meeting rooms, named after the donor countries, 
and which you will read about in this book. 
Thanks to stunning photographs, informative 
text and explicative captions, this book describes 
the main rooms where world leaders and the top 
experts in food and agriculture gather to discuss 
some of the most important challenges facing our 
planet. The book also showcases a collection of 
extraordinary artworks, present throughout the 
100 000 square metres of the architectural complex, 
donated by the Members and re�ecting the talent of 
the international artists and cultural heritage from 
all corners of the globe. 

Walking down the street from the Colosseum to the 
Baths of Caracalla, or leaving the Tiber river behind 
you and heading towards the Circus Maximus, 
passers-by might look up and wonder what is inside 
the imposing buildings on the Aventino Minore. 
This book opens FAO�s doors to inform people 
about the archaeology and the history of its vast 
architectural complex, and to reveal the places where 
people are �ghting global hunger.
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THE HISTORY 
OF THE SITE

The current FAO headquarters are located in an 
area of land created by a structural depression 
formed in the late geological history of the region 

between the main, broader part of the Aventine Hill 
towards the north, and one of its offshoots to the south, 
previously known as Saxum or Aventino Minore. In fact, 
over time, particularly during the modern era, the 
whole of Rome�s topography (more speci�cally, the rise 
and fall of the land) has changed signi�cantly. The tuff 
plane (i.e. the area of �at land) that characterizes all of 
south-western Rome has been carved over the course of 
time by small tributaries of the River Tiber (the banks 
of which lie a little further to the north), causing the 
formation of what we have come to know today as the 
hills of Rome. Thus, the entire valley in this area, the 
�at zone of the Circus Maximus and the current Viale 
delle Terme di Caracalla corresponds to the course of the 
tributary known as the Aqua Mariana (commonly referred 
to as Marrana), which, having risen in the area of San 
Giovanni in Laterano, separated the Palatine Hill from 
the Aventine. The current Via Gregorio Magno, leading 
towards the Colosseum, follows the course of another 
tributary, the line of which separated the Caelian and the 
Palatine Hills. Finally, what is now Viale Aventino follows 
the course of another body of water, which divided the 
Aventine Hill in two and �owed onwards into the Tiber 
in the area of what is now Porta Portese.

Below: Current view towards the Palatine 
Hill from the building C terrace. Right: The 

northern side of the Aventine Hill in ancient 
times, in Rodolfo Lanciani�s late nineteenth 

century archaeological map of Rome. 
The map has been reworked to include 
the schematic plan of the current FAO 

buildings (R. Lanciani, Forma Urbis Romae, 
Milan 1893�1901, tables 35 and 41).
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The highlighted area 
shows the current 
layout of the FAO 
building complex.
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Over the course of centuries, the ancient valley 
�oors were gradually built up, causing the once steep 
and precipitous slopes of the hills to become barely 
recognizable. Nevertheless, behind the FAO building 
itself, a clear difference can still be seen in the level of 
the terrain to the rear, where an ancient terrace wall 
from the age of the Roman Republic divides the higher 
ground of the tuff from the ancient watercourse. The area 
surrounding the current FAO headquarters lies within 
the �rst historical limits of the city and was enclosed 
within the �rst circuit of walls built in opus quadratum 
format. This was known as the �Servian Wall�, because 
literary tradition traces its construction back to Servius 
Tullius, the sixth king of Rome, although in reality it 
stems from the era of the Roman Republic and can be 

Roman terrace wall made of tuff and 
travertine in opus quadratum format 
from the second century BCE visible 
behind building C in the FAO complex.

dated back to the �rst half of the fourth century BCE. 
The city of Rome probably already had around 100�000 
inhabitants at this point. Various sections of the wall 
can still be seen within the area: one, in particular, 
is incorporated into the complex of the Istituto Santa 
Margherita, while another lies in the �eld directly in 
front of it. The �rst section was discovered in 1884 during 
reconstruction work on the complex, while the second 
was found during excavation works carried out in the 
Institute�s garden in 1983. The �nds made it possible to 
trace, albeit still hypothetically, the line of the wall in an 
east-westerly direction during the age of the Republic, as 
well as the probable location of the Porta Naevia, a gate 
marking the start of a road heading south (Vicus Portae 
Naeviae � Via Ardeatina) that crossed this very area.
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Ruins of the Thermae Antoninianae baths, 
erected from 212 by Emperor Caracalla 

(211�217). A new aqueduct (Aqua 
Antoniniana, a branch from the Aqua Marcia) 

was built to supply them; the storage 
tanks held up to 80�000 cubic metres 

of water. Right: current view from above 
(Google 2019). Below: as they appear 
in Giovambattista Falda�s map of Rome 
from 1676 (from A.P. Frutaz, Le piante 
di Roma, III, Rome 1962, �gure 360).

The current road layout in the area surrounding the FAO 
headquarters does not differ greatly to that of ancient 
times, when the main road axis was formed by the Via 
Appia, which ran directly towards the south-east in the 
urban area between the Caelian and Aventine Hills. 
At the height of the Imperial Age, this was �anked to the 
south by the Via Nova, which ran parallel and absorbed 
the traf�c heading towards the Baths of Caracalla, also 
known as Thermae Antoninianae. The construction of the 
Baths of Caracalla (212�216 CE) changed the topography 
of the terrain, cutting off the most southerly point of the 
Aventino Minore. The building, which was the biggest in 
Rome at the time (although it would be surpassed in size 
as early as the third century by the Baths of Diocletian), 
was able to accommodate almost 2�000 people at once, 
and received between 6�000 and 8�000 people every 
single day. The valley that separated the Aventino 
Minore from the greater Aventine Hill, however, was 
traversed by the Vicus Piscinae Publicae, a road that was 
probably not too different to today�s Viale Aventino 
(known as Viale Africa before the Second World War). 
Along its extension towards the west (the Vicus Portae 
Raudusculanae, which merged with the Via Ostiensis), it 
met the Vicus Porta Naeviae, which climbed back up the 
hill to the south-east along a route that corresponds to 
the current Via Aventina. Finally, on the western side lay 
the Clivus Delphini, which corresponds to the current Via 
di Santa Balbina, the �rst part of which has now been 
replaced by the Viale Guido Baccelli.
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During the Imperial Age of Rome, the whole area was 
residential, with ancient sources and archaeological 
�nds leading us to assume that it typically featured 
noblemen�s townhouses. Its proximity to the political 
centre of the city, the Palatine Hill, which was the seat 
of the Emperor, meant it was a privileged location for 
luxury homes and, most signi�cantly, for important 
people with links to the Emperor�s family. According to 
the administrative division of the city into regiones 
(districts), as dictated by Augustus at the end of the 
�rst century BCE, the site where the FAO complex 
now stands was part of the Regio XII Piscina Publica, 
which takes its name from the presence of an arti�cial 
basin for water collection, although the precise position 
of this remains unknown. The sources also cite 
another important public building in the vicinity: the 
temple of Bona Dea Subsaxana, although no de�nitive 
archaeological remains of this have been found. 
Nevertheless, the very name given to an area along 
the western slopes of the Aventino Minore, beneath 
its highest slope and known as Saxum, leads one to 
suppose that the remains of the structure may lie there. 
There may also be another clue in the remains that 
the archaeological maps of the last century suggest lie 
beneath the ancient monastery connected to the Basilica 
di Santa Balbina, and now occupied by the current 
Istituto Santa Margherita, situated at the summit of the 
hill. The precise year in which this pagan sanctuary 
was founded is also unknown, although it was certainly 
during the age of the Republic, being restored upon the 
orders of Livia, the wife of the �rst Emperor Augustus 
(as well as later on by the Emperor Hadrian during the 
�rst half of the second century CE). The monumental 
opus quadratum wall � made from travertine and tuff 
from the Grotta Oscura quarry � dating back from the 
second century BCE and gradually modi�ed over time 
according to historical maps, remains preserved and 
visible at FAO�s site. It is thought that it was constructed 
to enclose a sacred area of great signi�cance, hence 
there is a connection with the sources on the sanctuary 
dedicated to Bona Dea.

The Santa Balbina complex, 
immediately to the north-east 

of the FAO site, once home 
to a mediaeval monastery. 
The defensive tower dates 

from the twelfth century 
(photo by the authors).
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All �ndings suggest that there were a great many residential 
buildings, mainly domus (homes occupied by upper classes) 
and private villas (horti), here during the Imperial Age 
in particular. Sources attest to the horti of Asinius Pollio 
and the Horti Serviliani, and between the �rst and second 
centuries CE the buildings included the Privata Traiani 
and the Privata Hadriani (estates and land belonging to the 
Emperors Trajan and Hadrian, but that formed part of their 
private family property). Another feature was the domus of 
Lucius Fabius Cilo, the remains of which were identi�ed 
among the structures discovered in the mid-nineteenth 
century when signi�cant restoration work was being carried 
out on the complex of the former Santa Balbina monastery. 
This Roman public servant, who was made consul in 193 
and 204 and reached the rank of Praefectus Urbi (the highest 
civil of�ce in the city), received the domus as a gift, probably 
from the Emperor Septimius Severus, and it may have also 
formed part of the building and property in this area that 
once belonged to Hadrian. At that time the population of 
the city of Rome is estimated to have stood at more than 
1.5�million, including both those living and serving in 
the houses.

It was the collapse of one part of these Imperial Age 
buildings � located on the summit of the Aventino Minore 
� that resulted in the impressive remains in Roman concrete 
with brick cladding, or opus caementicium, that were traced 
during excavations carried out along the southern slopes of 
the hill, opposite the FAO complex. The structures date back 
to the second century CE, however new layers of ground 
were built on top of each other over time and the structure 
partially collapsed during the fourth century CE, probably 
due to a naturally-occurring event.

Remains of Roman opus reticulatum walls 
of structures believed to be tabernae 
(shops, workshops and commercial 
premises), currently visible in the 
building A car park.
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It is in precisely this area that the map of Rome produced 
by Leonardo Bufalini in 1551 depicts structures identi�ed 
as �Terme Deciane�, although these are probably 
more likely to be linked to another documented set 
of monuments that was rediscovered in two different 
phases: �rstly during the construction of the foundations 
for the new headquarters of the Ministry of Italian Africa 
(1938), and later during the construction of building 
C (1961), one of the buildings of the complex that now 
houses FAO. It was the construction of this building that 
unearthed some of the archaeological �nds displayed in 
the entrance of the �rst part of the complex (building A). 
During the works carried out in 1938, a long opus 
reticulatum brickwork wall was uncovered and found to 
be supporting the embankment behind it, and may also 
be linked to certain short stretches of wall still preserved 
today in the area of the FAO car park: backing onto these 
are brick buttress walls that form structures thought to 
have been workshops. 

A considerably more impressive discovery were the 
baths that once occupied the area where the current 
building stands. We believe this complex � examined 
and documented during the construction of the modern 
buildings � can be linked to the ruins that lie to the 
north of the slope of the Aventino Minore and that 
are marked in both historical maps and photographs. 
These same baths are probably also linked to �ndings 
made during the construction of building C, for which 
a date between the third and fourth centuries CE has 
been proposed. Its position relates to a more ancient 
man-made �ll likely to date to the �rst century CE, with 
the level of the foundations thought to be at the same 
depth as the monumental opus quadratum wall made of 
travertine and Grotta Oscura tuff, which dates back to 
the second century BCE and remains preserved along 
the northern slope of the Aventino Minore.

The area where the FAO site now 
stands, as shown on Leonardo Bufalini�s 

map of Rome from 1551 (from A.P. 
Frutaz, Le piante di Roma, III, Rome 

1962, �gures 203 and 204).
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After the Imperial Age of Rome, people gradually 
began to abandon the entire area, and as such the 
structures began to inevitably decay. In spite of this, 
one of the �rst Christian parishes (tituli) took root on 
the Aventino Minore. According to certain scholars, the 
origins of the Paleochristian Basilica di Santa Balbina 
actually lie in the domus of Lucius Fabius Cilo, however 
the creation and development of this building has 
proven to be so complex and contentious that it has not 
been possible to reconstruct the original structure or 
establish a date on which scholars can unanimously 
agree. One of the hypotheses put forward for when 
the basilica was �rst built maintains that the hall of 
worship corresponds to the hall of the Imperial-Age 
residence � a theory we are not inclined to agree with, 
since we tend to think that although it does indeed 
recycle remains from an earlier age, the structure as 
it currently stands cannot date from before the sixth 
century. This would concur with the �rst documentary 
evidence of the Synod of 595, the signatures for which 
include the Titulus Sanctae Balbinae. Nevertheless, a 
different interpretation of the ancient sources might 
recognize the basilica under the Titulus Tigridae 
mentioned at the Synod in 499. During this period the 
population of the city fell rapidly to around 650�000 
inhabitants (mid-�fth century) and ultimately reached 
around 100�000 in the second half of the sixth century 
after the Gothic War.

The connections between the ecclesiastical building 
and the preceding structures from the Imperial Age 
are nevertheless undeniable, as demonstrated by the 
rediscovery of important structures from the Roman 
period at a lower level, immediately adjacent to the 
apse of the basilica. These comprise opus reticulatum 
tuff stonework (preserved to a notable height) and 
pillars. The structures can be traced back to the start 
of the Imperial Age and seem to run in parallel on an 
east-westerly basis with the line of the current Via di 
Santa Balbina, which is thought to lie along the ancient 
Clivus Delphini road.

Above: Santa Balbina basilica, founded in 
the �fth century, on today�s Via Baccelli. 
Left: Roman opus vittatum walls on the 
east side of the courtyard between the 
basilica and the monastery. The entire 
complex stands on a large expanse of 
Roman remains, some still visible, of 
a large domus owned by Lucius Fabius 
Cilo, consul in 193 and 204, a friend of 
Emperors Septimius Severus (193�211), 
Caracalla (211�217) and Macrinus 
(217�218). The Santa Balbina complex 
(the basilica and monastery that was 
later added) was of great importance, 
as for centuries it was the only inhabited 
monumental settlement in the area, 
which had become deserted and reduced 
to countryside as early as the sixth 
century (photo by the authors).
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In the Middle Ages, following the construction of the 
Paleochristian cult building, the ruins of the Imperial 
Age buildings at the summit of the hill show that there 
was also a monastic settlement here. Although there 
are no precise records as to the origin or when the 
monastic complex was �rst built, it can be veri�ed that 
at the height of the Middle Ages the monastery, which 
was inhabited by Benedictine monks from the eleventh 
century, became the only building of signi�cance in the 
entire area, which had by then been largely abandoned 
and reduced to countryside. By this point Rome was 
home to no more than 40�000 inhabitants, all of whom 
lived in the Campo Marzio along the banks of the Tiber. 
The building became something of a forti�ed settlement, 
complete with a 22-metre high signalling and lookout 
tower that still exists today. Recent research has led us 
to presume this was built in the thirteenth century, with 

The structures that came to light in 1938 
during construction of the Ministry of 

Italian Africa (FAO archive).

Drawing of the ruins of the 
baths, from the third and fourth 
centuries, examined in 1938 during 
construction of the Ministry of Italian 
Africa (ACS, G. Gatti archive, Maps, 
Region XII, sheet 13, sub-sheet 6, 
�Viale Aventino già viale Africa� 
[Viale Aventino, formerly Viale 
Africa], 1938�1939, map 4728).

its construction likely linked to the extension of the 
monastery that took place during that period; it is the 
only element still remaining from the forti�ed structure 
of the old monastery. Historical maps from the sixteenth 
to eighteenth centuries show the basilica and the isolated 
monastery, surrounded by vineyards and pastureland, 
in a setting that now forms part of Rome�s suburbs. 
After various incidents, including the suppression of the 
monastery with the proclamation of the Roman Republic 
on 15 February 1798, the complex is now home to the 
Santa Margherita Public Institute for Aid and Charity 
(IPAB), which provides care and services to elderly 
people. This part of the hill has remained virtually 
unchanged since the medieval period, albeit with the 
addition of the modern Viale Guido Baccelli, which cuts 
across and modi�es the old Via di Santa Balbina that 
dates back to Ancient Rome.
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By contrast, the area where the FAO buildings are 
situated, and which corresponds to the ancient Via Nova, 
underwent a series of notable transformations between 
the end of the nineteenth and the mid-twentieth 
century. Numerous drawings and photographs show the 
area before these interventions. The current geographical 
layout is the result of upgrading work that took place 
as part of the �Restricted Roman monument zone� 
project (1887), known as the �Archaeological Walk�, 
which profoundly altered the urban fabric and landscape 
of the area through various phases of the project up 
until the �rst few decades of the twentieth century 
(1917, although further work was carried out until 1930). 
These included building new roadways (Viale delle 
Terme di Caracalla, Viale Aventino, Viale Guido Baccelli) 
and demolishing layer upon layer of archaeological sites 
and architectural features at such a rapid rate that they 
were, as far as we know, barely documented. Amid all 
the destruction, however, there was one example of 
conservation, namely that of a little sixteenth-century 
house, the so-called Vignola, which was dismantled at 
its original site on the slopes beneath Santa Balbina in 
1911 and reconstructed at the start of the Archaeological 
Walk. In 1937 the Via delle Terme di Caracalla was 
incorporated into the Via Imperiale construction project 
(a prestigious thoroughfare for the capital of the Empire, 
intended to lead from Piazza Venezia to EUR) and was 
signi�cantly widened. At the initial section in Piazza di 
Porta Capena, the Obelisk of Axum (a 24-metre high 
monolith, depicting an 11-�oor house and dating back 
to the fourth century CE) was incorporated. The obelisk, 
erected on 28 October 1937 on the �fteenth anniversary 
of the March on Rome, originally came from Axum in 
Ethiopia, the holy city for Ethiopian Copts, which had 
been occupied two years earlier by the Italian army.

Below: The area currently occupied by the 
FAO complex during the works to build the 
Archaeological Walk (photo E. Van Deman, 
1912, from Fotogra�a Archeologica 
1865�1914, ed. K. Bull � Simonsen 
Einaudi, Rome 1978, pp. 40�41).

Left: The Circus Maximus from the air, 
1936. The Circus was built for chariot 
racing, the tradition of the time, in the 
reign of Etruscan King Tarquinius Priscus 
(in the mid-sixth century BCE) in the 
Vallis Murcia between the Palatine 
and Aventine Hills, where the River 
Euripus �owed towards the Tiber. It was 
expanded signi�cantly at the end of the 
Republican period and under Emperor 
Augustus (27 BCE�14�CE), reaching a 
length of 621�metres and holding up to 
150�000 spectators (ICCD, Aerofototeca, 
Italian Air Force), 95136; from D. 
Manacorda and R. Santangeli Valenzani, 
Il primo miglio della via Appia a Roma 
(The �rst mile of the Appian Way in 
Rome), Rome 2011, p. 19, �g. 10.



19 THE HISTORY / 19 

The entire south-eastern sector 
of the city, with the Aventine 
Hill at the centre, in an aerial 
photo from 1919 (from A.P. 

Frutaz, Le piante di Roma, III, 
Rome 1962, �gure 578).

The highlighted area 
shows the current 
layout of the FAO 
building complex.
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THE ORIGINS  
OF THE COMPLEX

In 1937 the Ministry of Public Works launched a 
tender for the �Project to build the new headquarters 
of the Ministry of Italian Africa to be erected in 

Rome between the Via d�Africa (what is now the 
Viale Aventino) and the Archaeological Walk�. 
The commission for the de�nitive project was granted 
in 1938 to a team formed by the architects Vittorio 
Ca�ero, Alberto Legnani, Mario Ridol�, Wolfgang 
Frankl, Ettore Rossi, Armando Sabbatini and Giulio 
Rinaldi. The building, which corresponds to today�s 
building B in the current complex occupied by FAO, 
was never actually used as the Ministry�s headquarters 
owing to military developments and the consistent loss 
of colonial possessions. In 1938, work also began on 
the construction of line B of the Rome subway in view 
of the opening of the EUR development in 1940, later 
cancelled due to World War II. It was not until 1955 that 
the subway line, with its Circus Maximus station located 
right in front of the FAO complex, was completed all the 
way to the EUR district and fully inaugurated.

A view of the Ministry of Italian 
Africa, now the FAO headquarters 

in Rome, from the �nal plan by 
architect Vittorio Ca�ero in 1950. 

Archive of the Accademia Nazionale 
di San Luca, Ridol�-Frankl-Malagricci 

fund, 1947�1951.
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FAO TODAY

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the 
United Nations (FAO) is the largest of the United 
Nations� specialist agencies. Its mission is to combat 

hunger, promote sustainable systems of food production, 
and ensure everybody has access to a balanced diet.

The Organization�s general aims are re�ected in the 
three global objectives de�ned by its Members:  
1. To defeat famine, food insecurity and malnutrition, so 
that everyone in the world can have access to suf�cient 
quantities of safe, nutritious food to be able to lead 
active, healthy lives.  
2. To eliminate poverty, especially in rural areas, and to 
advance economic and social progress for everybody by 
increasing food production and promoting agricultural 
development and a sustainable way of life.  
3. To promote the sustainable use of natural resources, 
including soil, water, air, the climate and genetic 
resources, to bene�t present and future generations.

FAO was founded in 1945 thanks to the joint 
efforts of 44 governments to create a permanent 
intergovernmental organization dedicated to food and 
agriculture. It now comprises 194 Member Nations, 
two Associate Members (Faroe Islands and Tokelau), 
and one Member Organization (European Union). It is 
headquartered in Rome, and with its various types of 
of�ces and agreements, it is represented and present 

A wide aerial view with FAO 
headquarters in the foreground and 

the monuments of Rome in the 
distance. Clockwise from left: The 

Vittoriano, Viale dei Fori Imperiali, the 
Colosseum, the Arch of Constantine, the 

Palatine Hill and the Circus Maximus. 
FAO headquarters now comprises six 

buildings; the last two were added 
in the late 1980s and early 1990s. 

The eight-storey complex spans 
more than 100�000�square�metres 
across a total area of four hectares.

in 152 countries. This global network of local of�ces 
is developing continuously in order to respond to the 
new demands and development priorities of the various 
countries and to increase the impact of the Organization 
in the �eld at national, regional and subregional levels.

The �ve Regional Of�ces enable FAO to respond in a 
multidisciplinary way to ensure greater food security 
and to pursue the priorities for agricultural and rural 
development in the geographical areas of competence. 
Furthermore, they also play a fundamental role in 
de�ning FAO�s political agenda through management of 
the Regional Conferences.

The ten Subregional Of�ces provide cutting-edge advice 
in response to requests from governments. They are 
the �rst points of reference for technical assistance, 
which might be advice on policy or the development 
of competences and speci�c projects in the respective 
geographical areas.

The National Of�ces are the �rst line of action in 
combatting all forms of famine and in developing 
resilience among the population to the negative effects 
of climate change and other global challenges. It is here 
that FAO reaches its maximum potential, providing 
strategic policies and making its technical competence 
available in the �eld.
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THE ENTRANCE

A fter completing the registration and security 
procedures and leaving the FAO gardens on 
the left, you access the main building of the 

Rome Headquarters of FAO. The area outside building 
A, currently gated and secured, was once simply a 
public space. 

Upon entering building A, the Organization�s mandate 
is immediately clear. Running along the right wall 
to welcome staff and visitors is the Preamble to the 
Constitution of FAO, carved in marble and in the United 
Nations� six of�cial languages (Arabic, Chinese, English, 
French, Russian and Spanish).

The of�cial English version reads: 
�The Nations accepting this Constitution, being determined 
to promote the common welfare by furthering separate and 
collective action on their part for the purpose of:
- raising levels of nutrition and standards of living of the 
peoples under their respective jurisdictions;
- securing improvements in the ef�ciency of the production 
and distribution of all food and agricultural products;
- bettering the condition of rural populations; 
- and thus contributing towards an expanding world economy 
and ensuring humanity�s freedom from hunger;
hereby establish the Food and Agriculture Organization of the 
United Nations, hereinafter referred to as the �Organization�, 
through which the Members will report to one another on 
the measures taken and the progress achieved in the �eld of 
action set forth above�.

Below left: a copy of the memorial plaque 
of the United Nations Conference held 

from 18 May to 3 June 1943, which laid 
the foundation for the idea of a United 

Nations agency for food and agriculture. 
Below right: a copy of the memorial 

plaque of the �rst FAO Conference, held 
on 16 October 1945 in Montreal, when 

the FAO Constitution was signed.
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THE ATRIUM

The area covered by the Atrium was completely 
different from what you see today. It was originally 
a transit area, an open-air courtyard used as 

parking lot and walking from the of�ces in building A, 
you had to cross it to reach the other building facilities. 
The �rst change to its aspect was made in 1993, with 
the construction of the third crossover bridge between 
buildings A and B. Subsequently, at the World Food 
Summit in 1996, it became a covered space thanks to the 
installation of two glass roof domes and glass windows 
at both ends. This area connecting the buildings became 
an Atrium, as it is called today. Staff and visitors could 
now enjoy an indoor courtyard, with light �ltering 
through the domes and at the same time be sheltered 
from wind and rain. The enclosed Atrium subsequently 
became the perfect exhibition space. The Atrium is the 
hub where the World Food Day (WFD) takes place, and 
each WFD is arranged in a different way. Later, one of 
the domes was selected to host the Sheik Zayed Media 
and Knowledge Centre, which was inaugurated in 2012.

On the right: The Atrium today, after 
being transformed into an indoor 

area in 1996. One of its domes is 
used as exhibition area and hosts the 
main event organized by FAO, World 

Food Day (WFD). The dome in the 
background hosts the Sheikh Zayed 

Media and Knowledge Centre. 
On the opposite page:  

past photos when the Atrium 
was still an outdoor courtyard. 
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THE SHEIKH ZAYED 
MEDIA AND 
KNOWLEDGE CENTRE

On the ground �oor between buildings A and 
B, in the heart of Atrium, is the Sheikh Zayed 
Media Centre, a state-of-the-art conference 

centre. The Sheikh Zayed International Media and 
Knowledge Centre (SZC) was established with a 
generous donation from the United Arab Emirates 
(UAE) to embody the enlightened vision of the late 
Sheikh Zayed bin Sultan Al Nahyan (the Centre is 
named after him) on the role of agriculture in the 
service of culture and human progress.

The entrance to the room welcomes visitors with a 
quote by the Sheikh: �Give me agriculture and I will 
give you civilization�, repeated in seven languages 
and in hieroglyphics, illustrating the crucial role that 
farming has played in human progress and the way 
that writing has been an integral part of the civilizing 
process. The entrance door is an artwork called Passages 
(2012) in blown glass and iron sheets. It was made by 
the Tunisian artist Sadika Keskes, who also designed 
Palmeiras (2012): the stained-glass decorations which 
adorn the upper glass panels, behind the Atrium. 
The artwork includes symbolic elements such as 
palm trees and birds: the palm trees represent the 
connection between religions � they are considered 
sacred in the holy texts and also a source of life, as are 
the birds. The concept of life can also be seen in Arbre 
de vie (2012), the golden trees decorating the platform, 
another work by the Tunisian artist. The idea is to 
imagine the tree as a means of interaction between 

The entrance of the Sheikh Zayed 
International Media and Knowledge 
Centre donated by the United Arab 
Emirates (UAE). Opened in 2012, 
it is used for meetings, conferences 
and live television transmissions.
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THE FLAG 
HALL

On the ground �oor of building B, the Flag 
Hall displays Members� �ags. Donated by the 
Government of Kuwait, it is a relaxing space 

used by staff and for temporary events and exhibitions. 
The room extends over 100 square meters and was 
established to host the World Food Summit in 1996.

Inside the room there is an tapestry by the Senegalese 
artist Saliou Diouf DØmangui, called Princesse 
solaire (literally Sunshine Princess). The tapestry is 
characterised by a black background upon which a sun 
in geometric shape looms. It consists of brightly coloured 
circles, triangles and rectangles; and it lights up a stylised 
landscape, depicting a woman�s pro�le. The tapestry was 
donated by the Government of Senegal in 1997.

Just outside the Flag Room, there is a second century CE 
�oor mosaic, taken from a building discovered in 
Tignica, 90 km west of Tunis. The colours are still bright 
and its tiles form �oral arrangements in 12 squares in 
the central space. A geometric picture frame delineates 
the composition. The mosaic was donated to FAO by the 
Government of Tunisia in 1965.

Close by there�s a huge plaster copy of statue of Minerva 
� Vittoria Alata, on temporary loan from the Museum 
of Roman Civilization since 1996. The copy on display 
is based on a marble replica dating back to 96 CE, 
recovered in Ostia Antica and now on exhibition at the 
Ostiense Museum. The statue was intended to be part of 
the architectural centre piece of Porta Romana, located at 
the entrance of the current nymphaeum at Piazzale della 
Vittoria, a place of rest and refreshments where travellers 
made a stop before heading into Ostia.©
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Above: the tapestry made by the Senegal artist Saliou Diouf 
DØmangui, Princesse solaire (Sunshine Princess), donated 
by the Government of Senegal in 1997. Below: the Flag 
Hall is a relaxing space used by staff. On the main wall 
there are miniature �ags representing the FAO Members.
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The David Lubin Memorial Library is located 
on the ground �oor of building A, near the 
Atrium. Established in 1952, it is named after 

David Lubin, founder of the International Institute of 
Agriculture (IIA).

The Library was redesigned by the Italian architect 
Piero Sartogo and features the predominant use of glass: 
glass-�oors, �oor-to-ceiling glass windows and black 
glass display columns, as well as black marble walls 
and supports. Its most striking architectural element 
consists of a study platform with a dome-like glass roof, 
a functional and symbolic solution. The glass cupola 
allows in as much light as possible into a space that due 
to its position on the ground �oor was naturally dark.

The Library began with its predecessor, the International 
Institute of Agriculture (IIA). As mentioned in the Story of 
the David Lubin Memorial Library book, edited by FAO, the 
IIA was �the �rst permanent international organization 
with expertise in the primary sector [�] tasked with 
generating technical and economic knowledge�. It was 
housed in some buildings in the heart of Villa Borghese, 
and �transformed Rome into a world-renowned centre 
for the study of agricultural issues and the creation of 
international cooperation mechanisms�. Over a period of 
forty years, the IIA Library in Rome undertook the role of 
conserving and organizing agricultural knowledge, thus 
becoming an international source of information.

THE DAVID LUBIN 
MEMORIAL 
LIBRARY
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THE CHINA 
LOUNGE

Walking down the entrance hallway of 
building A, the China Lounge is just to your 
left. The oval antechamber has two different 

ornate entrances, guarded by two colourful clay lions, 
as per Chinese tradition. The pair of lions are located 
on two masonry plinths, guarding the entrance as if 
protecting the workplace. The lion has a paw lying on a 
sphere (possibly representing the world) and symbolizes 
the cosmological and normative domains and is the 
building�s protector. The lioness, depicted with a paw 
on her cub, is the household, family or staff protector. 
It symbolizes the domain of life.

The main room is long and narrow, characterised by 
sinuous curves from the �oor that draw the eye towards 
the back: the ceiling lamp �lters light blue and gold 
light representing the sky. In the background there is a 
copper map of China engraved with the country�s main 
agricultural products, such as rice and wheat. ©
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Two clay lions guarding the 
entrance of the China room.  

On the opposite page:  
the interior of the China room after 
the complete restructuring in 2015.
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Located on the third �oor of building A, the 
Plenary Hall lies between the Caribbean and 
Japanese lounges, two spaces for welcoming the 

representatives. Access to the Hall is also via by the 
Belgian Lounge.

Donated by the Government of Italy, the Plenary Hall 
is the most important room in the building, especially 
designed to hold high-level meetings. These include 
the biennial FAO Conference and its governing body 
sessions, and other summits and ceremonies. Among the 
memorable events that have taken place there, was when 
the United Nations Diplomatic Conference adopted the 
Statute of the International Criminal Court, on 17 July 
1998 and Italy was the �rst signatory. 

Blue is the dominant colour in the hall, a reminder of 
the blue on the United Nations �ag. The main room and 
the galleries have seating capacity for over a thousand 
people, over a surface area of 1�076 square meters, which 
make it the largest FAO conference room. 

Speakers can be heard in seven languages through 
simultaneous interpretation in the six FAO of�cial 
languages (Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian 
and Spanish) plus one other language when required.

Although the Hall retains some of its original features, in 
1951 it was quite different. Over the years, there has been 

THE PLENARY HALL

View of the Plenary Hall 
during World Food Day, 
14 October 2016.
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THREE WINDOWS

The stained-glass windows were 
designed by the Belgian artist Guido 

De Graeve and executed in 1953 
by the Belgian master glass painter 

Jules François Henry Vosch. They 
depict various agricultural scenes.

THE BELGIAN 
LOUNGE

Located on the third �oor of building A, the Belgian 
Lounge is located in front of the entrance to the 
Plenary Hall. Donated by the Government of 

Belgium, its walls display portraits of former FAO 
Directors-General and photos of former Conference 
Chairpersons. The Lounge was inaugurated in 1953 
and renovated at the beginning of the twentieth 
century (2001); it is reserved for the use of delegates and 
their guests.

Under the gaze of the former Directors-General, it is 
worth noticing the furniture of the seating area and 
admiring the three stained-glass windows, depicting 
various agricultural scenes: people from all over 
the world are �shing together, tending their �ocks, 
harvesting �elds or hunting in a forest. A special 
arti�cial light system illuminates the colours and design. 
Bands of glass squares in various shades separate these 
multi-coloured windows on agriculture, each framed 
by small fragments of coloured glass forming a pattern. 
The stained-glass windows were designed by the Belgian 
artist Guido De Graeve (1928�2005) and executed by the 
Belgian master glass painter Jules François Henry Vosch 
(1892�1969), who was also responsible for the enamel 
panel. The artwork was donated by the Government 
of Belgium, and it was the only partnership between 
the two artists. On special occasions, a very valuable 
carpet from Iran is placed in this Lounge to welcome 
the visitors.
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THE 
CARIBBEAN 
LOUNGE

The Caribbean Lounge is situated in a strategic place 
on the third �oor of building A, to the right of the 
Plenary Hall. Donated to FAO by the Member 

States of the Caribbean Community and Common 
Market (CARICOM), upon entering the entrance you 
notice the architecture of the room, which was designed 
to re�ect the West Indian (Caribbean) architecture 
style known as Victorian or Gingerbread. The oblong 
shape of the room, the great number of openings 

(windows and doors) assisted in representing what is 
perhaps the striking feature in the imagery of Caribbean 
architecture: the veranda. The furniture, the artworks 
and the mahogany craft objects which adorn the Lounge 
are modelled on Caribbean Art Deco style.

The history of this elegant space began with a gift. 
Originally, FAO headquarters did not have an area 
dedicated to the Member States of CARICOM, however 
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THE THAI LOUNGE

The Thai Lounge is located on the third �oor 
of building A. Donated by the Government of 
Thailand, it is perpendicular to the Caribbean 

Lounge and is reserved for meetings of the delegates. 
Furnished in traditional Thai style, from the �oor 
parquet to the chairs and sofas, every element is made 
of teak.

Inaugurated in 1955, its current design comes from the 
renovation work in 1997. Inside the Lounge is a large 
map of Thailand made of teak, and a big gong held by 
two ivory tusks (they are from an old elephant who died 
a natural death and is a symbol to remind humankind to 
help protect elephants).

Above right: the big gong 
held by two ivory tusks. 

Right: a detail of the teak 
chairs. On the opposite page: a 
perspective of the Thai Lounge.
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THE JAPAN LOUNGE

The Japan Lounge is located on the third �oor 
of building A, to the left of the Plenary hall. 
Donated by the Government of Japan in 1957, it 

has serves as an important meeting area for Member 
delegates attending Conference sessions as well as other 
major events held in the hall.

Inside the Lounge, a wooden map of the country 
displays every single one of its 47 regions, each of them 
made from a different kind of wood. The walls display 
donations from various origins: Sequa (1983), by the 
Peruvian painter and potter Francisco Espinoza; Vineyard 
in Samaria (1949), donated by the Government of Israel; 
and lastly Woman washing rice with two buffaloes, by Marc 
Leguay (1910�2001), a French painter who lived in the 
Lao People�s Democratic Republic.

The Japan Lounge also has a separate room 
for discussions.©
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Left: a wooden map of Japan 
displays every single one of its 47 
regions, each made from a different 
kind of wood. Opposite page: a 
perspective of the Japan Lounge.
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A GLOBAL 
AND NEUTRAL 
FORUM

FAO plays a crucial role in disseminating 
knowledge and information to countries, 
supporting agriculture, forestry and �sheries, as 

well as food security and nutrition. 

In 2018, the Organization published 829 publications, 
1�187 brochures, 6�112 documents and publications 
online, reaching a total of 85�000 publications held 
in FAO�s document repository. FAO�s �agship 
publications (SOFIA, SOFO, SOFI, SOCO and SOFA) 
were launched simultaneously in the six UN of�cial 
languages and in different formats (print, PDF, e-pub, 
mobi). Over 10�000 titles have been sold as hard copies 
or downloaded as e-books; 838 have been uploaded on 
Google Books, exceeding 2�500�000 unique book visits, 
for a total of 20�000�000 pages viewed.
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THE 
GREEN 
ROOM

The Green Room is located on the �rst �oor of 
building A. Inaugurated in 1951, its surface area 
stretches over 500 square metres, so it�s one of 

the major conference rooms at FAO. Donated by the 
Government of Italy, after the renovation works in 
1999, its appearance is now more comprehensive and 
dynamic. Its speci�c features are the large podium with 
the �ags of FAO Members behind it; the walls covered 
with walnut panelling, four pillars in walnut with 
diamond-shaped points; green carpet and upholstery, 
and lastly a bronze sculpture hanging on the left wall. 
The sculpture is by the Italian artist Giò Pomodoro 
(1930�2002), a renowned sculptor, goldsmith, engraver 
and scenographer, awarded at both the Paris (1959) and 
Venice Biennales (1962). Some of his monumental works 
are found in Italian squares and abroad.

The Green Room is equipped with a technical booth 
and six simultaneous interpreting booths. After the 
refurbishment in 1999, there is a now a separate back 
access to the main podium from the Nordic Lounge. 
Overall, its design is similar to the adjacent Red Room, 
which provides complementary functions.

The untitled work of art is made up of 
four corrugated plates in molten bronze. 
It was made by Giò Pomodoro in 1966. 

The well-known Italian sculptor, goldsmith, 
engraver and scenographer started in the �eld 

of goldsmithery, but later explored materials 
such as stone, marble and bronze, as in this 

case. To transfer the effect of movement, 
Pomodoro built a wooden frame covered with 

fabric. Once he had positioned the fabric, 
he covered it with molten bronze, which 

provided the desired shape. The artwork was 
donated by the Government of Italy in 1967.
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THE RED 
ROOM

The Red Room is right next to the Green 
Room, located on the �rst �oor of building A. 
Inaugurated in 1951, the Red Room was designed 

to host the FAO Council meetings, the executive body 
of the Conference, which normally holds at least �ve 
sessions inbetween meetings of the Conference. 

Donated by the Government of Italy, it was renovated 
in 1999 and again in 2006. It was designed to ensure 
that the 49 Member Nations of the Council  � serving 
three-year rotating terms � and the European Union 
have seats in front of the podium chaired by the 
Independent Chairperson of the Council, allowing 
observers to participate from their seats, listening to 
the session in any of the six FAO of�cial languages. 
The Red Room�s walls are decorated with portraits of 
former Chairpersons. The �rst Chairperson was Andre 
Mayer from France, in of�ce from 1945 to 1947; the 
last is Khalid Mehboob from Pakistan, in of�ce since 
2017. Since the establishment of FAO, there have been 
twenty Independent Chairpersons of the Council. 
By tradition, the Organization commissions a portrait 
of the outgoing Chairperson, which is duly framed and 
unveiled in the Council room. Each painting was done 
by a top-level artist. ©
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THE NORDIC 
LOUNGE

On the �rst �oor of building A, located between 
the Green Room and the Red Room, is the 
Nordic Lounge. Donated by the Governments 

of the Nordic countries (Denmark, Finland, Iceland, 
Norway and Sweden), the space is reserved for delegates 
and guests attending conferences in the nearby major 
rooms. An eye-catching carved wooden map has been 
there since the inauguration in 1977. A new wooden door 
with glass panels, installed during the restructuring in 
2001, provides an open view of the Lounge and through 
to the outside. The Lounge also includes photographs of 
landscapes in the region.
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Right: the carved wooden map has been 
there since the inauguration in 1977. 

On the opposite page: the long hallway 
between the Green Room and the 

Red Room guides our view outside.





100 / INSIDE FAO A TRULY GLOBAL FORUM

THE ETHIOPIA 
ROOM

Located on the second �oor of building C, the Room 
was donated by the Government of Ethiopia. 
Inaugurated in 1965 and renovated several times 

over the years (in 1996 and again in 2008), the new 
architectural design was completed during the 2013 
renovations. It re�ects the country�s culture and customs 
and pays tribute to the ancient history of the land, and its 
bright colours are a reference to the country�s �ag. 

In line with the latest technology, the Room includes 
state-of-the-art audio visual and interpretation 
equipment while promoting environmental 
sustainability and energy savings, thanks to the lighting 
system that guarantees multipurpose lighting options. 
The new architectural design in an oval shape, and 
the materials used, ensure maximum visibility for all 
meeting participants, as well as a feeling of nature, 
comfort and well-being, guaranteed by ergonomic 
seats. The oak panelling used in the furnishings and the 
walls are uniquely �tted and follow the natural curves 
of the planks thus creating a subtle sense of movement 
throughout the room. The milling process used to create 
the wooden panels follows the natural curves of the tree 
and therefore ensures 20 percent more usable material 
thus optimizing the number of planks milled from 
one tree.

IRIS STARGATE

Left: detail of the digital processing of 
the iris �ower, made by the Italian artist 
Adriano Nardi in 2012. In Ethiopian 
culture, the iris represents faith, courage, 
wisdom, protection, hope and good wishes. 
The background shows the colours of the 
Ethiopian �ag. On the opposite page: 
full view of Adriano Nardi�s work-of-art.©
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THE 
MALAYSIA 
ROOM

The Malaysia Room is located on the second �oor 
of building B. It is furnished in Malaysian tropical 
hardwood. The entrance is impressive: a wide, 

carved wooden doorway, in two different colours, and 
�anked by two wooden columns. Above them is a lintel 
with the name Malaysia written on it. Inside the room, 
seats face each other, on two parallel rows along the 
200 square metre length of the room. Along the side 
walls are eight aedicule containing typical Malaysian 
objects. The brightness of the meeting room is created by 
chandeliers in the shape of reversed pyramids and the 
huge windows. 

Inaugurated in 1965 and renovated in 1997, the Room 
donated by the Government of Malaysia is equipped 
with simultaneous interpreting booths.

Every detail of the Room is made from 
Malaysian materials. Chandeliers in the 
shape of pyramids and huge windows 
ensure brightness to the 116 seats, 
arranged in a two-row layout.
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THE KING 
FAISAL ROOM

Located on the second �oor of building D, the Room 
is named after the Saudi Arabian King who reigned 
from 1964 to 1975.

The King Faisal Room is one of FAO�s most prestigious 
meeting rooms: it is large (about 300 square metres) with 
a marble �oor and walls and can accommodate over a 
hundred people. The design is inspired by Islamic art: 
King Faisal�s portrait was sculpted in white marble on a 
wall, set against a marble mosaic of Medina and Mecca. 
The large central horseshoe table, and the additional 
seats, host guests in white leather chairs, each with the 
Saudi Arabian national emblem. The carpet in tone 
with the wooden table reaches the opposite marble wall, 
which is carved with verses of the Koran.

The King Faisal Room was inaugurated in 1981, 
renovated in 1999 and again in 2006. The Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia offered this room to FAO not only 
in memory of the Saudi Arabian leader, but also 
in recognition of the Organization�s goals which 
serve humankind and of its role in �ghting poverty 
and hunger.

Below: King Faisal�s portrait 
sculpted in white marble. 

On the opposite page: 
Director-General JosØ Graziano da 

Silva meeting some Directors of 
FAO Regional Of�ces (2016).
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THE  
NIGERIA 
ROOM

The Nigeria Room is located on the second �oor 
of building C. Inaugurated in 1973, it was later 
completely renovated in 2009. Donated by the 

Government of Nigeria, the Room features a vaulted 
ceiling with coloured light �ttings above the large oval 
wooden table. The selected materials and themes are 
inspired by the natural landscapes along the Niger river 
with its colourful blend of natural and human settlement. 
The Room�s ambience is to promote dialogue and open 
exchange in a vibrant natural space. The selection of 
materials and technical aspects minimize overall energy 
consumption. The Nigeria Room also has a separate 
breakout area for small group discussions.

The opening ceremony 
of the new Nigeria 
Room (2010).©
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THE 
PHILIPPINES 
ROOM

Located on the second �oor of building C, the 
Room donated by the Government of Philippines 
accommodates guests with four rows of tables, 

made of bamboo and laid out in concentric order on 
the ocean-blue coloured �oor. In front of the main wall 
is the main speaker�s table, with a wide illustration as 
a backdrop: the picture depicts the typical Philippine 
landscape distinguished by the sea, vegetation and 
rice terraces. This latter theme is reiterated along 
the walls. The lights are arranged to represent the 
archipelago of the Philippines. The intention is to 
reproduce an atmosphere that pays tribute to the colours 
and landscape of the Republic of the Philippines. 
In particular, the inspiration was the country�s 
relationship with the sea, with sailing and its way of life.

When the Room was inaugurated in 1965, it was 
very different to what you see today: there was wood 
panelling on the walls, with some works of art such 
as Giò Pomodoro�s bronze sculpture, now on display 
in the Green Room and a decorative suspended 
ceiling containing hexagonal honeycombs. The �rst 
refurbishment was done in 1996, for the World Food 
Summit when the Room was equipped with a permanent 
translation system. Its current design was done in 2013, 
to create a comfortable setting, that would integrate 
eco-friendly materials and minimize energy consumption.

The relief work along the 
walls evoke the image 

of rice terraces.

©
FA

O
/A

. P
IE

RD
O

M
EN

IC
O





116 / INSIDE FAO A TRULY GLOBAL FORUM

THE MEXICO 
ROOM

The Mexico Room is located on the second �oor 
of building D. Donated by the Government of 
Mexico, the geometric pattern that decorates the 

doorway is replicated in the design of the ceiling light. 
Meetings are held around the large horseshoe table, 
facilitated by the six simultaneous interpreting booths.

Inaugurated in 1981 and refurbished at the beginning 
of the new millennium (2001), the highlight of this 
space is a tapestry called Mexico (750 cm x 190 cm) 
which hangs on the wall opposite the entrance. 
Made in 1982, it was designed by the prestigious 
Mexican architect and designer Pedro Ramírez 

VÆsquez (1919�2013), a leading �gure in Mexican 
culture of the twentieth century. The very thin texture 
and the richness of colour, suggested by the architect, 
gives shape to a �eld of corn to highlight the intense 
agricultural activity in the country. The cultivation of 
maize has its origins, most likely in Central America, 
and especially Mexico, from where it spread to 
Canada in the north and to Argentina in the south. 
The tapestry was made in a carpet factory in Temoaya, 
a small town not far from Mexico City, renowned for 
its handicrafts. To appreciate the craftsmanship, one 
must consider that it takes 45 days of work to make 
one square metre of carpet.

MEXICO

The tapestry was made in 1982, 
designed by architect and designer 

Pedro Ramírez VÆsquez (1919�2013). 
The texture gives shape to a �eld of 

corn, one of the main agricultural 
activities in the country. The work of 

art was donated by the Government of 
Mexico and covers most of the wall.
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THE IRAQ 
ROOM

A t the main entrance of building A, the name 
of the Room is written in the following seven 
languages: Arabic, Aramaic, English, Kurdish, 

Mandaic, Sumerian cuneiform and Turkmen. The Iraq 
Room is located on the second �oor, in the central 
bridge between buildings A and B. The agreement for 
the establishment of a room that was technologically 
advanced and able to re�ect Iraqi art, was signed 
between the Republic of Iraq and FAO on 23 May 2013. 
The Room was inaugurated two years later, in June 2015. 
The main idea of the Room was to provide an elegant, 
�exible and innovative multipurpose venue for medium 
to large formal sessions and to enable simultaneous 
events. The Room can be arranged in different layouts, 
so that participants can move between simultaneously 
scheduled events according to need. This is made 
possible thanks to the ability to divide the space with 
movable panels, three mobile large �at screens, and the 
ability to conduct videoconferences. Sessions can be 
attended by 250 participants, facilitated by simultaneous 
interpretation in the six UN of�cial languages.

The Iraq Room is an elegant, 
innovative and multipurpose 
venue, which can be arranged 
into different layouts for 
simultaneous sessions. 
It seats 250 people.
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THE 
GERMAN 
ROOM

Located on the second �oor of building C, the German 
Room welcomes participants into a harmonious and 
ef�cient working environment. Starting from the 

corridor outside the entrance, there are overlapping 
lines of script in the six FAO of�cial languages, running 
the length of the Room. They refer to the Voluntary 
Guidelines on the Right to Food adopted by the FAO 
Council in 2004: �Every human being has the right 
to adequate food and the fundamental right to be free 
from hunger�. 

Donated by the Government of Germany, the Room 
extends over 200 square metres, its wooden �ooring and 
panelling is made from sustainably sourced red-hearted 
beech. A wooden surface starts on the �oor and becomes 
part of the main wall, surrounding the screen, onto 
which the live sky of Rome is projected via a live camera 
on the building rooftop. These and other features, such 
as the increase in the number of interpretation booths, 
were designed by the architect Heike Schuppelius 
in 2008.

Starting from the Room�s inauguration year in 1966, the 
German Room had a modern and functional design, 
practical for discussion and negotiations. During the 
various renovation works in 1979 and 2008, the quality 
standards reached very high levels.

�Every human being has 
the right to adequate food 
and the fundamental right 
to be free from hunger�. 
The entrance welcomes 

participants with an excerpt in 
the six FAO of�cial languages 
from the Voluntary Guidelines 
on the Right to food adopted 
by the FAO Council in 2004.
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THE IRAN 
ROOM

Right: a bas-relief map, made of 
clay tiles, showing environmentally 

friendly technologies used in 
traditional Iranian villages. Below: an 

illustration of the Iranian tradition. ©
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THE 
AUSTRIA 
ROOM

Located on the second �oor of building C, the Austria 
Room is a multimedia auditorium. The red sign outside 
the Room is designed in twentieth century art-nouveau 

style; inside, the red leather seats and the light coloured 
bleached wooden panelling decor re�ect the red and white 
colours of the Austrian �ag. The auditorium�s minimalist 
design enhances events taking place in the space. Donated by 
the Government of Austria, its original design was projected 
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by the architect Kaminski. Originally intended as a movie 
theatre, when it was completed in 1965, it was inaugurated 
by showing a documentary �lm made available by 
the Austrian Government. The Room was completely 
restructured in 2000, when it was equipped with �ve 
simultaneous interpretation booths. The auditorium 
provides a widerange of uses including press brie�ngs and 
conferences, lectures, presentations and more.

The Austria Room is a 
multimedia auditorium 

with a minimalist design. 
The colours of the seats and 

the furniture recall the Austrian 
�ag. Inaugurated in 1963, 

it can seat 108 people.
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The Pakistan Room is located on the �rst �oor of 
building A. Its distinctive feature is a wooden map 
of Pakistan, displayed on the main wall.

Donated by the Government of Pakistan in 1961, it was 
originally located on the third �oor, where it was renovated 
in 1996. As of 2002, the Room was located adjacent to 
the Green and Red Rooms. The new strategic location, 
combined with the renovation in 2018, make it a useful 
space for small meetings in conjunction with larger 
sessions held in the bigger rooms.
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THE PAKISTAN 
ROOM

The Pakistan Room is adjacent 
to the Green Room and the Red 

Room. Inaugurated in 1961, 
it can seat 24 people.
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Located on the second �oor of building B, the Cuba Room 
features a simple and elegant working environment. 
Donated by the Government of the Republic of Cuba, 

its walls display two paintings of a symbolic place in 
Havana: the Catedral de la Virgen María de la Concepción 
Inmaculada, built in the eighteenth century.

The Cuba Room was inaugurated in 1972 and renovated 
in 1989. Throughout the years it has hosted important 
meetings with Heads of State and Government, such as 
the World Food Summit in 1996.
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THE CUBA 
ROOM

The Cuba Room is an elegant 
working environment, decorated 

with two paintings of the Cathedral 
Square in Havana. Inaugurated in 

1972, it can seat 18 people.
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THE QUEEN 
JULIANA 
ROOM

The Queen Juliana Room is located on the third �oor 
of building B. Donated by the Government of the 
Netherlands and dedicated to Queen Juliana of the 

Netherlands, its original layout was designed by Frits A. 
Eschauzier, a prominent architect of the Netherlands, 
and was executed by leading artisans and furniture 
makers. Inaugurated in 1955, further renovation works 
in 1981 and in 1996 (to celebrate the �ftieth anniversary 
of the Organization), conferred a more modern layout, 
equipping the Room with simultaneous interpretation 
facilities. Its walls display a painting with stylized 
�gures of tulips and a bronze sculpture of the head 
of Queen Juliana. The entrance doors to the Room 
were constructed in the Netherlands and installed in 
Rome by Dutch and FAO artisans. In 2012, the Room 
hosted the 12th Ordinary Meeting of the Liaison Group 
of Biodiversity-related Conventions (BLG), during 
which the heads of the eight conventions discussed 
how to enhance coordination and collaboration 
in supporting the biodiversity and the sustainable 
development programmes.
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The Queen Juliana Room accommodates 
guests through its characteristic 

sliding doors. Inaugurated in 
1955, it can seat 36 people.
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THE 
CANADA 
ROOM

The Canada Room is located on the third �oor 
of building A. The oval oak table draws the eye 
towards an engraved wooden map of Canada: 

every region is made in walnut, each in a different 
shade of colour, which highlights the borders and the 
mountain reliefs. Overall, the Room draws on the 
colours of the forest thanks to the green carpet and 
chairs. The Canada Room was inaugurated in 1953 and 
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renovated in 1999. Its walls display some illustrations 
showing the traditions of indigenous life. Many of them 
were made by the Canadian artist Wayne Yerxa, who 
by using lithographs on rice paper, recounts the rituals 
and procedures to harvest wild rice. The lithographs 
on display have been treated to prevent them from 
yellowing; the frames are in the same wood as the other 
wooden items.

The Canada Room features 
a large wooden map of the 
country. Its walls display 
some lithographs showing 
the indigenous rituals for wild 
rice harvest. Inaugurated in 
1953, it can seat 24 people.
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Before entering, visitors are impressed by the 
antique wooden double door, originally from 
India, and with ornamental motifs engraved on 

the doors, along the columns and the lintel. The walls 
are adorned with wooden panels. The space, donated by 
the Government of India, was inaugurated in 1957 and 
restructured in 1992 and again in 1999. It is furnished 
with Indian decorative handcrafts and an illustration of 
Mahatma Gandhi.
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THE INDIA 
ROOM

Right: the double wooden door, 
engraved with ornamental 

motifs, welcomes visitors into the 
India Room. On the opposite page: 

Indian handcrafts furnishing the 
meeting room. Inaugurated in 1957, 

it can seat 30 people.
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Located on the second �oor of building B, the 
Azerbaijan Room is strategically situated between 
the second �oor meeting rooms of buildings B and 

D. Overlooking the historical marble staircase, its 
cherry wood doors welcome participants into a modern 
and traditional working environment. Donated by the 
Government of Azerbaijan, the Room is in the shape of 
a �ame, an ancient identity symbol of the local culture, 
due to the richness of hydrocarbons in the subsoil. 
The same shape characterizes the buta ornamental 
pattern, which shapes the ceiling in three-tiered layers; 
and the cherry-wood �oor and marble combination fuses 
modern and traditional materials.

Inaugurated in 2018, the Room extends over 67 square 
metres. Two wide windows grant full visibility during 
meetings around the long oval table, ensuring a double 
source of natural light; furthermore, the asymmetry 
of the end walls provides good acoustics. The Room 
is equipped with state-of-the-art communication 
technology, set in ogival arches adorned by tapestries 
and traditional musical instruments, such as the ganun 
and the qaval.

THE AZERBAIJAN 
ROOM

Above, right: The external wall de�nes 
the shape of a �ame. Below: detail 
of meeting table, illuminated by the 

wide windows. On the opposite page: 
the �ame shape is reproduced on the 

ceiling and on the �oor, where the 
wood and marble combines modern and 

traditional materials. Inaugurated in 
2018, the Room can seat 26 people.
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The Sudan Room is located on the third �oor of 
building A, near the Plenary Hall. Donated by 
the Government of the Republic of Sudan, the 

design conveys its visual identity, starting from the 
entrance: the African mahogany door is adorned with 
Sudanese patterns, repeated on an inner wall, in front 
of a small lounge. Inside the room, the wide windows 
overlooking Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, illuminate 
the workspace reserved for the Independent Chairperson 
of the Council, marked by two replica stone columns 
from the Kush dynasty. Across from it is an oval wooden 
meeting table, �anked by a replica of a sandstone column 
discovered in Abu Ertelia in 2015: this archaeological 
�nd belonged to King Natakamani and Queen 
Amanitore, and dates back to the Meroitic Age (from the 
�rst century BCE to the �rst century CE). The sculpture 
is approximately 140 cm high and was donated to Sudan 
by the Istituto Studi Medio Orientali (ISMEO).

The Sudan Room was inaugurated in 2017. During FAO�s 
Conference Sessions and other major sessions held at 
FAO headquarters, it hosts the of�ce of the Independent 
Chairperson of the Council; otherwise it is utilized as a 
traditional meeting room.

THE SUDAN 
ROOM

Above, left: detail of the meeting 
table. Below: a perspective of the room 
with ornamental plasterwork depicting 
Sudanese patterns. On the opposite page: 
two replicas of stone columns from the 
Kush dynasty. On the left is a replica 
of a sandstone column, dating back to 
Meroitic Age (from the �rst century BCE 
to the �rst century CE). Inaugurated in 
2017, the Room can seat 12 people.
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Located on the fourth �oor of building B, it�s one of the 
most representative meeting rooms used by senior 
FAO of�cers. The long convex wall curves outwards 

representing organic life, expanding and directly 
impacting the world. This is a metaphor for the decisions 
taken within this Room that will have a physical impact 
on the world. The minimalist functional design offers 
an appropriate venue to hold the Organization�s most 
senior-level meetings. The inner wall�s rough undulating 
surface recalls the waves of Australia�s oceans; the dark 
wood table is in the shape of a sailing boat with the 
curtain panels representing the boat�s sails. Reference to 
the continent�s past colonization period is represented 
by wooden boiserie which alludes to the �rst dwellings. 
The Room is also adorned with a painting by the 
Australian artist Edward Blitner, Lightning Spirit Man 
and the Mimis Magic Power Bag of the Dreamin Place. 
The work represents mimis, spirit �gures represented in 
many bark paintings and carvings. Their images are also 
found upon the rock walls of the Kakadu National Park 
(UNESCO World Heritage Site) and the Arnhem Land 
escarpment, in the Northern Territory. The painting is 
framed and includes an explanation of the origins of 
the myth and its relevance for aboriginal communities. 
Inaugurated in 1955 and renovated in 2011, the Australia 
Room also has a small studio for videoconferencing, 
adjacent to the main room.

THE AUSTRALIA 
ROOM

Right: The long convex wall curves 
outwards representing organic 

life, directly impacting the world, 
as are the decisions taken within 

this Room. On the opposite page: 
FAO Director-General JosØ Graziano da Silva 

meeting Akinwumi Adesina, President of 
the African Development Bank (2018).

LIGHTNING SPIRIT MAN AND 
THE MIMIS MAGIC POWER BAG 
OF THE DREAMIN PLACE

A painting by the Australian artist 
Edward Blitner. It depicts Mimis 
spirit �gures, represented in many 
bark paintings and carvings.
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Located on the eighth �oor of building B, the 
Indonesian Room includes a lounge and a dining 
room for special receptions, such as banquets reserved 

for delegates. Inaugurated in 1969 and renovated in 1996 
(almost doubling its size), the Room is decorated with 
representative examples of traditional wood carvings 
which is very common in many parts of Indonesia. 
The style is that of temple carvings from the ninth to 
the thirteenth century. Starting from the silver dinner 
service, carved-back chairs to the paneling on the 
columns and walls, every detail is handmade and a 
work of art in itself. The room was donated by the 
Government of Indonesia, and both Indonesian and 
Italian artisans worked together to �t the carved teak 
paneling. Some of the carved wooden panels include 
text and symbolic elements about the history of the 
country, such as the engravings on the back wall and 
the entrance. They depict scenes from the life of King 
Rama and his wife Sita, according to Balinese tradition. 
The story recounts the kidnapping of Queen Sita by the 
giant Rahwana. Rama�s victory over Rahwana represents 
the victory of virtue over evil, while the queen�s return 
to Rama�s kingdom symbolizes the return of wealth 
and abundance to the people. The Hindu queen is also 
seen as the incarnation of Dewi Sri, the goddess of rice, 
one of the most important staple foods in Indonesia. 
The Room includes other engravings of symbolic value, 
including a bird of paradise (a symbol of nature), a white 
heron (a symbol of fertility), a peacock (a symbol of the 
Indonesian teak forests) and the Gunungan (the tree of 
life and a symbol of the universe, depicted on a screen).

THE INDONESIA 
ROOM
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Right: a detail of wooden carving 
panels depicting scenes from the life 

of King Rama and his wife Sita.
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Located on the eighth �oor of building B, the Morocco 
Room is also known as King Mohammed V Room. 
Donated by the Government of Morocco, the Room 

extends over 150 square metres, hosting a dining room 
and a wide lounge overlooking the terrace.

The traditional Moroccan space is characterized by the 
�oor and the lower part of the walls made in blue and 
white hand-painted tiles. The upper walls were carved 
on site by Moroccan artisans and left white to offset the 
mosaics. This reception room is sumptuously furnished 
with rich Moroccan carpets, cushioned leather sofas 
and a wooden ceiling. The picture windows are adorned 
with curtains, and the chandeliers hanging from the 
wooden ceiling provide lighting. Two fountains separate 
the seating area from the main section of the room: the 
musical tone of the miniature waterfalls creates a sense 
of peace and well-being.

Inaugurated in 1965, the Room was restructured in 1967 
and in 1987. It is reserved for the Director-General to 
welcome high-level visitors, such as heads of delegations. 

In addition to the main entrance, you can access the 
Room through an arched secondary entrance, engraved 
in detail, closed by a �nely-decorated door adjoining the 
Indonesia Room.

THE MOROCCO ROOM
©
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ANGOLA RADIO AND 
TELEVISION CENTRE

The entrance displays works 
by Angolan artists.
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The Korean Conference Service Centre is located on the 
�rst �oor of building A. Donated by the Government of 
the Republic of Korea in 2001, it is a multifunctional space 

equipped with computers. The space serves as an information 
and document distribution area for the Green Room and the 
Red Room.

The Centre is adorned with some paintings entitled Feelings 
from Korea, by the Korean architect and artist, Tai Nam Jung. 
A wall displays some folk instruments called Samul Nori 
(signifying playing four instruments), typical of traditional 
music. There are also examples of ancient Korean farmers 
folk poems, written in Korean calligraphy. The many pictures 
display Korean architecture and landscapes.

KOREAN 
CONFERENCE 
SERVICE 
CENTRE
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The multifunctional Korean Lounge 
serves as a foyer area for activities 
taking place in the Green Room 
and the Red Room. The area 
is decorated with traditional 
Korean paintings and objects. 
It was inaugurated in 2001.
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Located on the ground �oor of building A, the UEMOA 
press room (Economic and Monetary Union of West 
Africa) is a workplace equipped for use by journalists. 

Inaugurated in 1999 and refurbished in 2003, the Room 
is decorated in wood and leather with typical artworks 
and craft items provided by the UEMOA Member 
States. The Room has a lounge and a small studio 
for interviews.

UEMOA 
ROOM ©
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Donated by the UEMOA Member 
States (Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte 

d‘Ivoire, Guinea-Bissau, Mali, Niger, 
Senegal and Togo), it is a press room 
for use by journalists. Inaugurated in 

1999, it can seat 14 people.
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ESPACE 
GABON The Espace Gabon is located on the ground �oor of 

building A, and is a venue to inform visitors and 
guests about FAO�s ongoing projects and activities. 

Donated by the Government of Gabon, the space is 
usually used for meetings with the decentralized of�ces, 
as well as high-level meetings. The meeting room was 
inaugurated in 1999 and refurbished in 2003.

The meeting room is equipped with 
video facility to screen FAO�s ongoing 
projects and activities. Inaugurated in 

1999, it can seat 20 people.
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TURKISH 
REGISTRATION 
CENTRE

SLOVAK 
DELEGATES� 
LOUNGE
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Located at the entrance of building A, the Turkish 
Registration Centre is a large airy space, designed 
to receive delegations and carry out registration 

procedures. Workstations line the walls; the area 
is decorated with Turkish ceramic tile copies based 
on the originals from the �fteenth and sixteenth 
century; among the carpets on the walls, one is made 
of silk. The Iznik ceramic tiles, depict the traditional 
sailing ship and represent the richness of the seas. 
Donated by the Government of Turkey, the Turkish 
Registration Centre was designed to help FAO ful�l 
its growing role as an important United Nations 
conference centre.

Located on the ground �oor of building B, the Slovak 
Delegates� Lounge is a multifunctional workspace 
equipped with the latest state-of-the-art technology. 

Donated by the Government of Slovakia in 2001, it is 
possible to separate the multimedia working area with 
sliding wooden doors. This working environment consists 
of an internet area, a lounge and a small meeting room. 
It is reserved to welcome delegates from Members.

Some artworks are kept there, mostly provided on 
permanent loan by the Slovak Agriculture Museum in Nitra. 
Among them, a textile composition named Prebudenie (2001) 
stands out, made by Lucia Korenova, an expert in textile art.

The Iznik ceramic tiles, depicting 
the traditional sailing ship, 
represent the richness of the seas. 
The Centre was inaugurated in 
2001 and can seat 10 people.

PREBUDENIE

The artwork is a textile composition 
made in 2001 by the Slovak 
artist Lucia Korenova.
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OTHER ARTWORKS

ANGOLA FAMILY UNITY

This painting was done in 2008, by the 
Angolan artist Alvaro Macieira. It upholds 

the idea of family unity against hunger 
and poverty and celebrates peace as 

the biggest conquest of Angolans and 
of humanity. The painting was donated 
by the Government of Angola and is on 

display on the third �oor of building A, in 
the Angola Radio and Television Centre.

Even though many works of art are stored in the 
main meeting rooms, there are a great number of 
masterpieces throughout the FAO headquarters 

complex. Here are some works of art which you can see 
when walking down the hallways.

AUTUMN

In this classic example of Swiss colourism, the Swiss artist 
Giovanni Giacometti (1868�1933) brilliantly mediates 
between French and Italian artistic traditions. The colour of 
the human forms echo the hues of the distant landscape, 
establishing a deep connection between nature and human 
experience. The artwork was completed in 1920 and 
donated in 1953 by the Government of Switzerland. It is on 
display along the hallway on the �rst �oor of building A.©
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THE TERRACE

RUDERE ROMANO I –  
OMAGGIO A CARACALLA

�Roman ruin I � Tribute to Caracalla� is a 
contemporary art sculpture representing a 
Roman ruin. It was made in 1958 by the 

Italian artist Roberto Ruta (1912�1994). 
It is a stone artwork, just under 1 metre 

high, placed on a chiselled pedestal. 
Donated in 1994, it is located on the FAO 

rooftop terrace, on the eighth �oor of 
building B, facing the Baths of Caracalla.

FAO�s magni�cent panoramic terrace is located 
on the eighth �oor of building B. Extending over 
1 400 square metres, the 360-degree open space 

offers breathtaking views over some of Rome�s most 
famous archaeological sites, reference points for those 
visiting the city, including the Colosseum and Saint 
Peter�s Basilica. The terrace�s travertine paving is also 
a tribute to these two magni�cent landmarks of the 
capital city and in keeping with the �nest traditions of 
ancient Rome. 

From up here the hustle and bustle of the city seems 
distant and traf�c noise is muted; you can take 
advantage of the restaurant and two coffee bars 
to take a moment and ponder the ancient glories 
of Rome.
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